

**PROPOSED
MANUAL
10.19.2021**

Color Code:

**Blue = new content or addition from prior
Manual**

**Changes that are editorial or to match bylaws
language are generally not highlighted**

Presbytery

of

Eastern
Virginia



Proposed Manual of
Administrative Operations
Book of Order G-3.0106

**The Manual of the Presbytery of Eastern
Virginia
TABLE OF CONTENTS
Pages approximate**

I.	Purpose	3
II.	Authority and Operational Principles	3
III.	Members & Meetings	3 - 5
IV.	Presbytery Officers & Staff	6 - 7
V.	Presbytery Council (PC)	7 - 8
VI.	Board of Trustees	8 - 9
VII.	Commissions, Committees, Ministry Teams	9 - 10
IX.	Commissioners to General Assembly and Synod	10
X.	Manual Suspension & Amendments	10

I-PURPOSE

The Presbytery of Eastern Virginia, Inc., (hereafter known as PEVA) is a council of the Presbyterian Church (U.S.A.) (hereinafter "PCUSA"), within the ecclesiastical bounds of the Synod of Mid Atlantic. A Presbytery, as defined by the *Constitution of the PCUSA* is responsible for the government of the church throughout its district, and for assisting and supporting the witness of congregations to the sovereign activity of God in the world, so that all congregations become communities of faith, hope, love, and witness, (*Book of Order* G-3.0301).

As a council, the Presbytery of Eastern Virginia serves as a corporate expression of the church in the geographical region of southeastern Virginia generally known as Hampton Roads ("Region"), and as such, is a sign of the unity of the church. Although each congregation possesses all the gifts necessary to be the church, none is sufficient in itself to be the Church. PEVA exists to help congregations, and the Church as a whole, to be more faithful participants in the mission of Christ. (G-3.01). *PEVA affirms as its mission: We build bridges across divides to deepen connections to Christ and one another to serve the world."*

II-AUTHORITY AND OPERATIONAL PRINCIPLES

The *Constitution of the PCUSA*, PEVA Articles of incorporation, PEVA Bylaws, and this *Manual*, along with any subordinating documents, shall govern the operation of the Presbytery of Eastern Virginia. *The Manual specifies the form, functions, and administrative procedures to guide the work of this Presbytery as it seeks to carry out its mission. Structures are intended to embody and support the Presbytery's theological understanding of itself and its mission. Structures are time-limited and expected to change as the Presbytery responds to God's call.*

PEVA may delegate responsibilities to Presbytery Council, Trustees, Commissions, Committees, Ministry Teams or Task Forces. Such groups will communicate regularly to encourage common understanding, open conversation, and a broad base for decision-making.

III. MEMBERS AND MEETINGS

1. Voting Membership of the Presbytery:

- A. All Ministers of the Word and Sacrament who have been admitted to membership according to the Book of Order.
- B. Ruling Elder(s) of member congregations who:
 - have been designated by their session as commissioners;
 - have been elected as officers of the Presbytery;
 - are serving on the Presbytery Council;
 - are certified Christian Educators in approved service; or
 - are serving as a Commissioned Pastor
- C. Sessions shall elect commissioners according to the following table for the purpose of equalization of elders and ministers of the Word and Sacrament:

• 500 or less members	1 elder
• 501 to 1000 members	2 elders
• 1001 to 1500 members	3 elders
• 1501 or more members	4 elders
- D. Predominately African American Churches and churches with more ministers than the designated number of ruling elders, as determined by the size of the congregation, are permitted to elect an additional ruling elder commissioner.

- E. Each year, if there is an imbalance in the number of ministers and elders the Stated Clerk shall recommend a process to address it normally at the January meeting.

2. **Corresponding Members and Other Participants:**

Presbyters (ministers and ruling elders) in good standing in other governing bodies of the Presbyterian Church (USA) or in any other Christian Church, who are present at any meeting of PEVA, may be invited to sit as corresponding members with voice but without vote. Directors of Christian Education and other church professionals serving within the bounds of PEVA are invited and encouraged to sit as corresponding members with voice but without vote. Other members of Ministry Teams, Commission on Ministry, Commission on Preparation for Ministry, the Permanent Judicial Commission, and other entities of PEVA are given the privilege of the floor and may participate in debate on matters concerning their commission/committee's sphere of responsibility. Guests and observers are welcomed to attend open meetings of PEVA.

3. **Meetings of PEVA:**

- A. Stated Meetings. PEVA shall have at least two Stated Meetings each year and ordinarily will have four meetings held in January, April, July, and October. The April, July, and October meetings are ordinarily on the fourth Tuesday of the month. The January meeting is ordinarily on the fourth Saturday of the month. [The schedule/location of stated meetings shall be prepared by the Stated Clerk for one year in advance, presented for the approval of the Presbytery Council normally at its January meeting and reported to the Presbytery. The Presbytery Council may make changes to the date or location as long as adequate notice is provided.](#)
- B. Special meetings. Special meetings of the members may be called when requested by two ministers and two ruling elders (ruling elders to be from different churches), or when directed by a higher governing body. [Only the specific business listed in the call to the meeting may be considered.](#)
- C. Stated and Special meetings are ordinarily held in-person and hosted by a PEVA church. However, Stated and Special meetings may be held electronically provided that the technology employed allows for simultaneous aural communication among all participants. Procedures for a specific electronic/virtual meeting shall be developed by Council and staff to best replicate in-person meeting processes and follow the guidance of the Office of the General Assembly.
- D. Electronic Meetings and Communications. The Presbytery of Eastern Virginia authorizes its commissions, committees, ministry teams and other entities to meet via video conference, teleconference, or by other electronic means whenever the moderator of said entity believes that such meeting will best serve the needs of its members, provided that the technology employed allows for simultaneous aural communication among all participants. Any entity may adopt its own procedural rules for the orderly conduct of business when such electronic means are employed.
- E. Action Between Meetings. PEVA authorizes its Council, commissions, committees, boards, and entities to take any action required or permitted to be taken with like effect between meetings of the entity, provided that every member is contacted either in person or via email and no member objects. If contacted via email, verification must consist of an email reply stating, "no objection," or words to that effect. If any member objects or wishes to have discussion on the motion, then a special meeting is required to take the action. Discussion via email in lieu of a meeting is not sufficient. Such action, if taken, shall be recorded in the minutes of the next meeting of the entity as an action taken by unanimous consent between meetings in accordance with the rules.

- F. In an emergency, the Moderator of Presbytery may convene the Presbytery by written notice at a time and place different from that previously designated by the body or by electronic means.

4. Meeting Preparation and Procedures

- A. Notice. Each meeting shall be held at the place and time designated by the Presbytery Council. In no event shall the Notice be less than ten (10) days. Notice must be provided in writing which may include electronic communications (e.g., email).
- B. Reports and New Business
- All reports and media requirements are due at the Presbytery Office at least three weeks before the Stated Meeting. The docket and reports will be published on the Presbytery's website at least 10 days before each meeting.
 - Any new business shall ordinarily be brought to the meeting with sufficient distribution to all PEVA Commissioners. Items of new business are to be given to the Stated Clerk as soon as possible and no later than the first recess unless it is of an emergency nature. Any report or new business not included in the packet or distributed as supplementary information before the meeting requires the consent of two-thirds of the members voting before it can be distributed, the report made, or action taken.
 - No action will be taken on recommendations coming from the floor of PEVA stated meetings that affect Restricted Funds' use or determination for eligibility of use without prior consultation with the Board of Trustees.
- C. Robert's Rules. All meetings shall be conducted in accordance with the most recent edition of Robert's Rules of Order, except in those cases where the *Constitution* provides otherwise, and unless special procedures are adopted by a majority vote of those present and voting. PEVA may also make use of processes of discernment in its deliberations prior to a vote as agreed upon by the body.
- D. Quorum. A quorum for any meeting is 10 ministers and 10 ruling elders representing at least 10 different congregations. Business can be transacted only when a quorum is present.
- E. Worship. A service of worship with sermon and celebration of the Sacrament of the Lord's Supper is ordinarily conducted at each Presbytery Stated Meeting.
- F. Docket. A docket for each meeting is prepared by the Presbytery Council and is presented as the first order of business following determination of a quorum. When adopted, it sets the order of the day and the order of business and events.
- G. Minutes. The Journal Clerk shall record minutes of the proceedings of all meetings of PEVA and prepare them for publication by the Stated Clerk. The minutes will be read and approved by the PEVA Council members and reported to Presbytery. Minutes will be attested by the Stated Clerk and are available in the Presbytery Office or upon request. The Presbytery Moderator shall appoint a clerk pro tem in the absence of the Journal Clerk upon the recommendation of the Stated Clerk.
- H. Voting. [Whether meetings are in-person, electronic or hybrid](#), all motions will be decided by a majority of those members present and voting, unless the vote required to adopt is based on other specified requirements, i.e., two-thirds, three-fourths.

IV-PRESBYTERY OFFICERS & STAFF

1. **Officers** - The officers of PEVA, as enumerated in the Bylaws, are a Moderator of PEVA, a Vice Moderator, a Moderator of the Trustees, who is also the President of the Corporation, a Treasurer, Stated Clerk, and General Presbyter. All officers must be eligible to be presbyters.
 - A. The **Moderator** is an elected official of the Presbytery required by the *Constitution* and serves a one-year term ordinarily from the close of the January Stated Meeting until the close of the following January Stated Meeting and is nominated by the Nominations Committee. Nominations for the office of Moderator shall be permitted from the floor. The Moderator serves as the official representative of the Presbytery at any church or public function and may be relieved of committee duties while serving as Moderator. The Moderator may appoint a parliamentarian to assist in the conduct of plenary assemblies when the Stated Clerk is not available. The Moderator shall provide an annual report to PEVA at the January meeting, prior to the installation of a new Moderator. [To encourage diversity, the order of rotation for PEVA Moderator is normally minister and ruling elder, male, and female.](#) The Moderator ordinarily becomes Moderator of Presbytery Council upon completion of the term as PEVA Moderator for a one-year term if elected by PEVA.
 - B. The **Vice Moderator** serves a one-year term and is nominated by the Nominations Committee with other nominations permitted from the floor. The Vice Moderator assists the Moderator as required and serves as Moderator in the absence of the Moderator. Ordinarily the Vice Moderator is elected as the next Moderator. When a ruling elder, the Vice Moderator shall be enrolled as a member of PEVA for the term of office.
 - C. The **Moderator of the Trustees** shall perform such duties and responsibilities as directed or delegated by the Board of Trustees or Members. The Moderator of the Trustees shall serve as the president of PEVA, Inc. in the execution and performance of PEVA's business affairs as required by civil law.
 - D. The **Treasurer** shall have the care and custody of and be responsible for all funds and securities of PEVA and shall deposit such funds and securities in the name of PEVA in such financial institutions as the Board of Trustees may designate. The Treasurer may sign and endorse in the name of PEVA all checks, drafts, notes, and other orders for the payment of money and pay out and dispose of such under the direction of the Members and Board of Trustees. The Treasurer shall keep at the principal office of PEVA accurate books of account of all its business and transactions and shall at all reasonable hours exhibit books and accounts to any Member or Board of Trustees upon application at the office of PEVA during business hours. A financial review of the books [shall be conducted annually](#) or when requested by the Members or Board of Trustees. [Elected annually, this individual shall further perform all duties incident to the office of Treasurer of PEVA.](#) If required by the Board of Trustees, the Treasurer shall give such bond as determined to be appropriate for the faithful execution of his or her duties.
 - E. The **Stated Clerk** shall perform the duties and responsibilities required by the *Book of Order* and those assigned by PEVA. As per the Bylaws, the Stated Clerk also serves as the Secretary of PEVA, Inc. The Stated Clerk is nominated by the Presbytery Council with other nominations permitted from the floor and is elected for a specific term upon recommendation by the Presbytery Council and approved by the Presbytery. The Stated Clerk records transactions and maintains official records of the presbytery in accordance with the *Book of Order*, G-3.0104; [acts as official correspondent; serves as parliamentarian for PEVA meetings; and performs other tasks as assigned by the Presbytery Council.](#) The Stated Clerk provides guidance regarding the *Constitution of the PC(USA)*. When a ruling elder, this person shall be

enrolled as a voting member of PEVA. [The Stated Clerk is accountable to PEVA through the Personnel Committee and the Presbytery Council.](#) It is expected that this person will work closely with the General Presbyter.

- F. The **General Presbyter** serves as the Pastor to the Presbytery, administrator, and head of staff of PEVA. The General Presbyter also serves as an ex-officio member of the Council and Board of Trustees, without vote. The General Presbyter works under the general supervision of the Presbytery Council through the Personnel Committee with ultimate responsibility to PEVA in plenary assembly; fulfills leadership, consulting, and resourcing needs with PEVA and its congregations, ministers, entities and beyond; exercises overall supervision of PEVA staff and direction of the office of PEVA; oversees financial management of PEVA; represents PEVA at all Council levels (G.A. Synod) and when appropriate, in ecumenical and interfaith settings; and performs other tasks as assigned by the Presbytery Council. The General Presbyter is nominated by a presbytery nominating committee comprised of ministers and members of congregations in as nearly equal numbers as possible and is called by the Presbytery.
2. **Staff** - [The role of PEVA staff shall be to facilitate and enable the work of the Presbytery. They are expected to serve in ways which shall enable the parts of the interdependent system to work together. The Presbytery Council shall determine, upon recommendation of the Personnel Committee and in consultation with the General Presbyter, the staffing pattern for the Presbytery. Position descriptions for non-elected positions, whether exempt or non-exempt, shall be approved by the Presbytery Council and shall be included in the appendices of this Manual. The General Presbyter and Personnel Committee shall be responsible for employing office staff.](#)

[Policies and procedures related to the employment, supervision, rights, and benefits of all staff members are defined in the Handbook of Personnel Policies and Procedures. The Personnel policies and procedures can be amended by a majority vote of the PEVA Council upon recommendation from the Personnel Committee. Changes are to be reported to the next Stated Meeting of the Presbytery.](#)

3. **Contractual and other relationships:**

- A. The **Business Administrator** serves for the period of PEVA contractual engagement or employment. The Business Administrator is not an officer of the Presbytery. [The Business Administrator is the primary financial manager, responsible to the Trustees, Treasurer, and General Presbyter, and if an employee, is under the supervision of, the General Presbyter. The Business Administrator maintains and manages the business affairs of PEVA, including but not limited to, accounting services, providing financial reports, maintaining legal and property records, and supporting financial reviews.](#)
- B. The **Journal Clerk** is not an officer [but may be a paid position or included in an administrative staff position description.](#) The Journal Clerk prepares the minutes and presents them to the Stated Clerk in finished form. The Journal Clerk shall request the Moderator to appoint Temporary Clerks to assist during meetings.
- C. The **PEVA General Counsel** is the legal advisor, representative and registered agent for PEVA.

V – PRESBYTERY COUNCIL

1. [The role of the Presbytery Council is to provide leadership, guidance, and support for PEVA’s life and witness, to care for the body as a whole and for its particular ministries. The Presbytery Council’s responsibilities include oversight, coordination, planning, personnel, budget formation and making recommendations to PEVA for priorities, policies, and other matters as needed.](#)

2. It shall be comprised of **nine** individuals elected by PEVA. Members shall include the Council Moderator (ordinarily the immediate past PEVA Moderator), Moderator of PEVA, Vice Moderator of PEVA, and **six** at large members **to include both ministers and ruling elders**, with at least one member reflecting the African-American constituents of PEVA or other racial ethnic groups consistent with the principles of unity and diversity. The General Presbyter and Stated Clerk are ex-officio members without vote.
3. **The Council normally meets monthly and may meet upon the call of its moderator.** The Council provides advice to PEVA entities, oversees the annual budgeting process including budget presentation to PEVA for approval, approves minutes of PEVA meetings and reports it to Presbytery, approves the docket for PEVA meetings, and receives periodic reports of PEVA entities. **It may call special meetings of Presbytery as needed.**
4. **The Council recommends potential members for election to the Committee on Nominations and appoints persons to serve on the Personnel Committee, which shall include up to three members of Council and at least one non-Council member.**
5. **The Council has the authority to approve expenditures from restricted funds which are under their purview, in accordance with the provisions of a particular fund.**
6. **The Council may act as a commission between PEVA meetings in emergency situations, such as a natural disaster, if holding a special meeting is impractical.**

VI—BOARD OF TRUSTEES

1. The Board of Trustees shall serve as the Directors of PEVA, Inc. and as delegated by the Presbytery shall have such limited power, authority, and responsibilities of and shall perform the functions provided by a board of directors under the Virginia Nonstock Corporation Act (hereinafter the "Act". Except as otherwise provided by the Act, the Articles, the Bylaws, the *Constitution* or this *Manual of Operations*, the authority to carry out the business affairs of PEVA shall be exercised by the Board of Trustees. The Board shall fulfill the functions required by civil law and those that the Presbytery assigns to it. It shall be responsible for implementing the policies of the Members related to investments, financial guidance, and property; and shall arrange for an annual financial review.
2. The Board of Trustees shall be comprised of at least six and no more than eleven individuals including its moderator and be elected by the Presbytery. The Trustee Moderator shall be recommended by the Trustees for PEVA election. Trustees shall include both ministers and ruling elders and normally be divided into three approximately equal classes. They shall normally serve a three-year term and may be elected for one additional three-year term. No trustee shall serve on the Board of Trustees for more than six consecutive years. The General Presbyter and Stated Clerk shall be ex-officio members of the Board of Trustees without vote.
3. The Board of Trustees shall convene meetings as necessary or as may be required by the Act, Constitution, or Manual of Operations. A meeting may be called by the Moderator of the Trustees or upon call by no less than one-third of the Board of Trustees. The Trustees may act by unanimous written consent which may be electronically in lieu of a formal meeting. The consent becomes effective when fully executed by all Trustees. The consent shall be recorded by the Stated Clerk.
4. **The Board of Trustees shall have the authority to establish such separate funds with descriptions of each fund's composition and purpose, and policies for execution of said funds as shall be advisable for the best management of PEVA's business affairs. Its authority includes designating check signing practices, execution of contracts, and borrowing of funds up to \$20,000 on a temporary basis to carry out PEVA's work.**
5. **The Board of Trustees shall have charge of and oversee all real and personal property owned by or held in trust by the Corporation, including the property of closed congregations, unless PEVA has delegated that responsibility to an administrative commission.**
6. **The Board of Trustees shall have the authority to negotiate terms, recommend and**

execute the sale of PEVA real property in accordance with the will of PEVA.

7. The Board of Trustees shall consider and make recommendation to PEVA regarding requests from congregations to sell, encumber, or lease property, in accordance with the Constitution, and may approve and report to PEVA any requests from congregations for time-sensitive situations, such as zoning or easement related actions.
8. The Board of Trustees shall have the authority to invest PEVA financial assets and hire appropriate professional entities to manage these invested funds.
9. The Board of Trustees is responsible for all legal matters incident to the business affairs of PEVA.

VII-COMMISSIONS, COMMITTEES, AND MINISTRY TEAMS

1. **Standing Commissions and Committees.** Presbyters will be elected at Presbytery meetings to serve on the following commissions and committees: Commission on Ministry, Commission on Preparation for Ministry, Committee on Representation, Nominations Committee, and the Permanent Judicial Commission. A person ordinarily serves on one committee/commission at a time (with the exception of the Permanent Judicial Commission). Persons are elected to terms of up to three years and may be re-elected for up to a total of six years, except the Permanent Judicial Commission which is a six-year term. After that, one year must elapse before a person can be re-elected to the same committee/commission. If a member becomes inactive and abandons their obligations, the Moderator of that committee/commission may request the Nominations Committee to nominate a replacement for the inactive member. Nominations Committee members will be nominated by the Council.
2. **Ministry Teams and other committees.** Ministry Teams and committees, such as the Sessional Records Review Committee, Compassion Peace and Justice Ministry Team, Congregational Vitality Team, Youth and Young Adult Ministry Team, etc., exist to perform particular functions or to gather as a matter of interest and will be filled by persons interested in that ministry team/committee and serve for a period of time as determined by the team/committee, ordinarily no more than six years. Personnel Committee members will be appointed by the Presbytery Council. Members of these teams/committees need not be presbyters. New ministry teams that are not sub-sets of a committee or commission shall be approved by Presbytery Council and a description of their purpose and membership reported to the Presbytery. Moderators or conveners will be determined by the teams/committees. Ministry Teams shall report at least annually to the Presbytery.
3. **Permanent Judicial Commission (PJC):** The purpose and functions of the PJC are provided for in the Rules of Discipline and other relevant sections of the *Constitution*. The Permanent Judicial Commission of the Presbytery of Eastern Virginia shall consist of nine (9) members elected by the Presbytery whose term shall be six years. No person who has served for a full term of six years shall be eligible for re-election until four years have elapsed. The Moderator of the Presbytery, Stated Clerk, and members of the Presbytery staff shall not serve on the PJC. In all its proceedings the Permanent Judicial Commission shall be governed by the *Constitution* of the PCUSA to fulfill the duties described in the *Rules of Discipline*.
4. **Administrative Commissions.** Administrative Commissions are designated to consider and conclude, but not limited to, such matters as ordaining and installing ministers; examining and receiving ministers into membership; organizing, merging or dissolving congregations; visiting particular congregations affected with disorder; and other matters as requested by the PEVA Council, COM, or other standing commissions/committees of the presbytery. Administrative Commissions are ordinarily appointed by vote of Presbytery to act on behalf of the Presbytery. Administrative Commissions may be appointed by the Presbytery Moderator upon the request of the Moderator of the Commission on Ministry, in consultation with the General Presbyter and Stated Clerk, when required between Presbytery meetings

sand shall be reported to the Presbytery. Administrative Commissions shall include ruling elders and ministers in numbers as nearly equal as possible to do the work assigned but with at least three members. Administrative commissions are empowered to act on behalf of PEVA and any actions shall be regarded as actions of the council (PEVA) that created it within the scope of their responsibility and assignment.

VIII COMMISSIONERS TO GENERAL ASSEMBLY AND SYNOD

1. **Commissioners to General Assembly.** PEVA elects commissioners (active ministers and ruling elders) and a Young Adult Advisory Delegate (YAAD) to the General Assembly ordinarily at the October meeting prior to the next assembly meeting, in accordance with the number established in the *Book of Order*, G-3.0501, and on nomination by the Nominations Committee with nominations permitted from the floor with the permission of the nominee. The Nominations Committee selects minister commissioner nominees based on time since a commissioner, time since ordination, time as a member of PEVA, level of involvement in work of Presbytery, synod, GA, and representation issues. Ruling elders are selected from nominations based on level of involvement in work of church and Presbytery and representation issues. Young Adult Advisory Delegates shall be between the ages of seventeen and twenty-three years on the date the General Assembly convenes and must be selected before December 1st of the calendar year proceeding the General Assembly. [Commissioners to General Assembly shall ordinarily report at the next stated meeting after General Assembly meets.](#)
2. **Commissioners to the Synod of the Mid-Atlantic.** PEVA elects commissioners based on guidelines from the Synod of the Mid-Atlantic on nomination by the Nominations Committee with nominations permitted from the floor and with the permission of the nominee. PEVA elects commissioners based on published Synod diversity guidelines. [Commissioners to Synod shall report at stated meetings following each Synod Assembly.](#)

[Reports from commissioners to these Assemblies may be oral or written.](#)

IX SUSPENSION AND AMENDMENTS TO THE MANUAL

1. [Any rule in this Manual of Operations may be suspended for a particular specified purpose by a 2/3 vote of the members present and voting at a stated meeting or a special meeting of the Presbytery.](#)
2. [This Manual of Operations may be amended by the majority vote of the members present and voting at a stated meeting if the proposed amendment is included in the call to the meeting, or at a special meeting called for such purpose, and at which a quorum is present unless additional time for study is requested by at least one-third \(1/3\) vote of Members present, in which event the Presbytery shall act to consider the amendment at the next stated meeting or at a subsequent stated meeting determined by action of the Presbytery.](#)
3. [The Stated Clerk, in consultation with the Presbytery Council, shall be empowered to make minor changes to maintain consistency between this Manual, the Bylaws of the Presbytery, and the *Constitution of the Presbyterian Church, USA*.](#)
4. [The Appendices to this Manual may be amended by the Presbytery Council at its discretion except when noted in the body of an appendix.](#)